PROFESSIONAL AGREEMENT

Between

The Lincoln Public Schools

and

The Lincoln Education Association

2016-2017 2017-2018

Lincoln, Nebraska





LINCOLN BOARD OF EDUCATION

Barbara Baier

Lanny Boswell

Kathy Danek

Connie Duncan

Don Mayhew

Annie Mumgaard

Matt Schulte

Stephen Joel, Superintendent

LINCOLN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS

President Rita Bennett
Vice President Julie Colby
Secretary/Treasurer Linda Freye

Board Members

Jacob Baden

Marlyce Carlson

Lesa Christiancy

Michael Geist

Marge Keep

Chris Martin

Todd Sievers

Isau Metes

Jen Yoder

LEA/NSEA UniServ Director Matt Erb Executive Director Dan Studer

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
LPS Board of E	Education, LEA Board of Directors	
ARTICLE I	Recognition	2
ARTICLE II	Association Rights and Privileges	2
ARTICLE III	Negotiations Procedures	4
ARTICLE IV	Grievance Procedure	5
ARTICLE V	Conditions of Employment	7
ARTICLE VI	Changes in Placement	14
ARTICLE VII	Professional Appraisal	17

ARTICLE VIII	Leaves from Duty	18
ARTICLE IX	Compensation	26
ARTICLE X	Incentive Pay	32
ARTICLE XI	Mileage Reimbursement	34
ARTICLE XII	Fringe Benefits	34
ARTICLE XIII	Part-Time Employees	35
ARTICLE XIV	Professional Committee	36
Appendix A	2016-2017 and 2017-2018 Salary Schedules	40
Appendix B	Grievance Form	41
Appendix C	Pay Dates for 2016-2017 and 2017-2018	45
Index		46

This Agreement is made and entered into this *March 22, 2016* between the Board of Education of Lincoln, Nebraska and the Lincoln Education Association as the exclusive representative of the certificated employees as described herein. *All italicized type is new information for 2016-2017 and 2017-2018.*

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish terms and conditions of employment and a mutually determined procedure for the amicable adjustment of disputes arising from the relationship of the parties.

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

The Board agrees to recognize exclusively the Lincoln Education Association for the purpose of representing the District's certificated staff, except school administrators and substitute teachers, for the purposes of negotiating collectively on terms and conditions of employment and the administration of grievances arising thereunder.

ARTICLE II ASSOCIATION RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES

2-1 The Association has the following rights:

- The Association may transact official Association business on school district property at all reasonable times.
- b. The Association may use school facilities without charge when they are available for public use, except that the normal charge will be made for use on Saturdays, Sundays or on weekdays after 10:00 p.m.
- c. The Association offices shall be placed on the regular delivery route for inter-school mail delivery. The Association may use said delivery service, district mailboxes and bulletin boards, where available, for the purpose of communicating with Association members.
- d. Orientation Programs The Association shall be provided time on the agenda of the general orientation programs for new certificated employees.
- e. Deductions shall be made and remitted to the Association only on the basis of voluntary individual authorization signed by the certificated employee and forwarded to the District. The Association shall provide the District with a monthly deduction amount by the 15th of September of any year. The payroll deductions shall be prorated over the regular pay periods from September through August. In order to provide for the regular payment of monies, the Association shall establish a monthly amount of deduction which shall be certified to the District by the Association on or before the 15th of any month. Signed voluntary deduction authorizations

for new payroll members, and the list from the Association referred to above reflecting any changes, additions or subtractions in the monthly deduction, must be received by the District by the 15th of each month for such deduction to be deducted from any pay check for that pay period.

- f. In the event Association members vote to increase Association dues, the Association shall notify the District at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the dues increase.
- g. During the terms of this Agreement, deductions shall be made in accordance with Section 1-e, and 1-f, of this Article and shall be transmitted to the Association within ten working days, with an itemized statement showing the name of each certificated employee for whom such deductions are made. The Association agrees that upon remittance of such monies by the School District to the Association's designee, the Association is solely responsible for the proper accounting and expenditure of such funds and agrees to hold the Board harmless thereon.
- h. In order for deductions to be made, a certificated employee's earnings must be regularly sufficient to cover the amount of the appropriate Association deduction after other legal and required deductions are made. When a certificated employee is in a non-pay status for part of a pay period and earnings are not sufficient to cover the deductions, no deduction shall be made for that pay period.

In case of unpaid leave of less than one school year and the member is to return to work during the school year, the Association shall add such amounts on a prorated basis on their return from leave. When it is known that a member is not returning for the remainder of the school year, the remaining annual dues will be deducted from the last payroll check issued for the contract year.

- i. The Association will indemnify and hold the District harmless against any claims made or against any suits instituted against the Board on account of payroll deductions for the Association. Upon presentation of proper evidence thereof, the Association agrees to refund to the District or the certificated employee, whichever is applicable, any amount paid to the Association in error because of the deduction provisions.
- j. Authorization shall be continuing except that during the period of March 1 through April 15 of any year a member may revoke such authorization to be effective September 1 the year of the revocation by providing written notice during said period to the Association and the payroll department of the District of the member's desire to terminate the deduction. Members who have a change in employment which moves them into an administrative position after the April 15 deadline may drop their membership provided their written request and an explanation of their change in status is received in the LEA office by September 1.
- k. The District and the Association agree that an effort shall be made at both the District and building level not to schedule mandatory meetings, parent/teacher conferences, or professional development that prevent a member from attending the LEA Faculty Representative Council scheduled on a regular basis each school month. To facilitate this effort, the District agrees to include the scheduled meeting dates of the LEA Faculty Representative Council in the LPS Elementary and Secondary Teacher calendars released for site and District planning each spring for the following year.

2-2 Student Teachers University Relations:

The Lincoln Public Schools shall set aside funds received from student teacher training institutions for distribution to teachers in accordance with recommendations made by the student teacher committee composed of Association and District representatives. The Board of Education has a responsibility to help insure that cooperating teachers get appropriate compensation from teacher training institutions.

a. Professional staff members will have an opportunity to indicate a willingness to work in the teacher education program each semester. Student teachers will be assigned only to those staff members willing to participate in the program. As soon as the District is aware of tentative assignments, those assignments will be communicated to the individual cooperating teachers.

- b. In the event the professional staff member has a concern about the assignment and/or growth of a student teacher, the professional staff member will initiate the following process:
 - (1) Notify the building principal of the concern.
 - (2) Should the concern remain unresolved, notify the Supervisor of Elementary Personnel Services.

ARTICLE III NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURES

3-1 Negotiations shall be conducted as follows:

- a. The negotiations process and schedule will conform to state and federal statutes.
- b. The Board and the Association mutually agree that their representatives will hold all necessary authority to make and consider proposals and concessions in the course of negotiating, subject to ratification by the Board and Association.
- c. LEA staff and the LPS Director of Employee Relations and Personnel shall jointly develop data including, but not limited to, current staff schedule placement, cost projection model, comparability study and other such data as shall be deemed useful in the negotiations process. This data shall be shared by LPS and LEA. No data jointly developed shall be released to the press except by joint agreement.
- d. During negotiations, the two teams will generally use an interest based bargaining model to explore interests and develop options to meet those interests.
- e. Either party may utilize the services of outside consultants and may call upon professional or laypersons to assist negotiations.
- f. Negotiations will be conducted in closed sessions.
- g. Prior to the declaration of an impasse, the parties shall consider other alternatives to resolve the issues (e.g., a federal mediator). Should an impasse be declared, the parties shall resolve the impasse as provided in the statutes.

3-2 **Negotiation Agreement**

- a. The agreement shall be reduced to writing, submitted to the Board and Association for ratification, and following ratification, shall be signed by the parties.
- b. This agreement shall constitute the full and complete commitments between both parties and may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the mutual consent of the parties in written and signed amendments to this agreement.
- c. The Board of Education shall take no action nor allow the establishment of any administrative practices that are inconsistent with the provisions of this agreement.
- d. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of the Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- e. Fifty (50) copies of this agreement entitled "Professional Agreement Between the Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association" shall be printed at Board expense upon signatures by both parties and shall be delivered to the Association office. The Agreement will be posted on the district web site. An executive summary of the agreement will be printed and distributed to certificated employees.

f. This agreement shall become effective for certificated staff on the first day of their contract for the 2016-2017 school year and continue through the 2017-2018 school year and shall remain in full force and effective until amended.

3-3 Reopener

In the event that judicial action, legislative action, a levy election, or the petition process results in changes in the Constitution or current statutes changing the funding available to Lincoln Public Schools, either party may reopen this contract for the purposes of modifying the salary and fringe benefits during the term of this contract. In the event that the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) mandates any action, *including but not limited to the implementation of any so-called "Cadillac" Tax or similar assessment,* which increases total district health insurance expenditures for certificated personnel or the district must take any action to avoid penalties under PPACA and such action increases total district health insurance expenditures for certificated personnel, either party may reopen this contract for the purposes of modifying the fringe benefits during the term of this contract.

ARTICLE IV GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

4-1 Definitions

- a. A grievance is defined as an alleged violation or misapplication of any specific provision of this agreement. All such allegations shall be grievable through all steps of the grievance process as set out in this agreement.
- b. Claims of a violation of Board policy, State Statute, administrative directives or regulations which affect employees' work, shall be grievable through Step 3 of the process described herein. Any such grievances which remain unresolved after Step 3 may be appealed to the Board of Education, which shall act in a timely fashion to arrange a hearing before the Board. Such claims are not arbitrable.
- c. Employee shall mean a member of the bargaining unit.
- d. Days shall mean working days exclusive of Saturday, Sunday, or official holidays during the contract year for certificated employees.

4-2 General Conditions

- a. Compliance Employees of the school district will follow all verbal and written directives from supervisors. Compliance with such directives will not in any way prejudice their right to file a grievance within the time limits contained herein, nor shall it affect the ultimate resolution of the grievance.
- b. No Reprisals The Board shall use every means at its disposal to assure every employee the unobstructed use of this grievance procedure without fear of reprisal or prejudice to his/her employment status.
- c. Time Limits Since it is important that a grievance be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each level shall be considered as a maximum, and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limit specified may, however, be extended by mutual written agreement of the grievant and the employer.

If a grievance is filed which might not be finally resolved under the time limits set forth herein prior to the end of the school year, and which, if left unresolved until the beginning of the following school year could result in irreparable harm to a grievant, the time limit set forth herein will be reduced to the extent possible so that the grievance procedure may be concluded prior to the end of the school year, or as soon thereafter as is practical.

- d. Failure to Meet Time Limits The failure of the aggrieved party to proceed to the first or any subsequent step of this grievance procedure within the time limits set forth shall be deemed to mean the party elected not to file a grievance or has accepted the response previously rendered, and shall constitute a waiver on any future appeal concerning the particular grievance. The failure of any administrator at any step to communicate his/her decision to the aggrieved party within the specified time limit shall permit the aggrieved party to proceed to the next step.
- e. Communication All communications concerning the grievance, after the grievance is formally submitted, shall be in writing.
- f. Adjustments No adjustment shall be made in any grievance which is in conflict with, or contrary to, the provisions on any policies, applicable laws, or administrative regulations.
- g. Forms Forms for filing grievances shall be attached to this agreement as Appendix B.
- h. Meetings All meetings and hearings under this procedure shall be conducted in private and shall include only such parties in interest and their designated or selected representatives heretofore referred to in this article.
- i. No Interference Grievances should be processed in a manner which does not interfere with the employee's work and the normal operation of the schools.
- j. Representation Assistance The employee may have a representative of the Association present at all levels of the grievance procedure.
- k. Withdrawal of a Grievance The grievant may withdraw the grievance at any step of the procedure.

4-3 Procedure

Step 1

If unsuccessful in an informal attempt with the immediate supervisor to resolve the dispute, the aggrieved party shall present the grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor within twenty (20) days of the occurrence. The grievance shall be written on the standard grievance form. The immediate supervisor, the aggrieved party, and the Association Representative shall meet in an attempt to settle the dispute within five (5) days. The immediate supervisor shall provide the aggrieved party with a written answer to the grievance within five (5) days after such meeting.

Step 2

If satisfactory settlement is not reached in Step 1, the aggrieved party must, within five (5) days of the receipt of the Step 1 response, appeal the grievance to the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources. The Associate Superintendent for Human Resources, the Director of Employee Relations and Personnel, the aggrieved party, the aggrieved party's immediate supervisor, and the Association representative shall meet within five (5) days in an attempt to resolve the dispute. A written response must be given by the Associate Superintendent within five (5) days after such a meeting.

Step 3

If a satisfactory settlement is not reached in Step 2, the aggrieved party must appeal the grievance to the Superintendent of Schools within five (5) days of receipt of the Step 2 response. The Superintendent shall conduct a hearing with the aggrieved party and the Association Representative within five (5) days of the receipt of the grievance. A written response will be given by the Superintendent within five (5) days following the hearing.

Step 4

If a satisfactory settlement is not reached in Step 3, the Association may, within ten (10) days after the response at Step 3, submit the grievance to arbitration by submitting to the Superintendent a joint request form for a list of seven (7) arbitrators to be supplied by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS), American Arbitration Association (AAA), or other mutually acceptable parties. Within ten (10) working days of receipt of said form, the Superintendent shall direct the

request as a joint request to the FMCS unless another such service has been agreed to by the parties. Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the list of arbitrators, the Executive Director of the Association and the Superintendent or their Designated Representatives shall select an arbitrator by alternately crossing out names until only one (1) remains. Either party may elect to reject the first panel.

4-4 Arbitration

The arbitrator shall be limited in making the determination as follows:

- a. The arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from, change, modify, or alter in any way the provisions of this Agreement, or impose on any party hereto a limitation or obligation not explicitly provided for in this Agreement.
- b. The arbitrator shall have no power to change any practice, policy, or rule of the Board, nor to substitute the arbitrator's judgment for that of the Board as to the reasonableness of any such practice, policy, or rule.
- c. Thirty (30) calendar days after the receipt by the Superintendent and the Executive Director of the arbitrator's award, the decision of the arbitrator shall become final unless it has been specifically overturned by the Board of Education at an official meeting of the Board.
- d. All fees and expenses of the arbitrator and other hearing expenses, including stenographer fees, printed transcripts, and published briefs and decision, shall be borne equally by the parties. The grievant shall suffer no loss of pay or benefits which may be due for attendance at hearings conducted during normal school hours. Substitute costs for up to two witnesses who are called by the LEA to testify at arbitration hearings conducted during normal school hours shall be shared equally by the LEA and the Board if the witness is a member of the bargaining unit. All other expenses including salaries of any other witnesses called before the arbitrator shall be borne by the party calling such witnesses or incurring such expenses.

4-5 Group Grievance Procedures

If, in the judgment of the Association, a grievance affects a group, or class of employees, or rights of the Association as set forth in this Agreement, the Association may submit such grievance initially at Step 2.

4-6 Bypassing Step 1

If in the judgment of the employee, or the Association in the case of an Association or group grievance, the alleged grievance cannot be resolved at the building level due to the administrator not having the authority to resolve the grievance, the certificated employee may submit such grievance to the Director of Employee Relations and Personnel with a copy to the building principal. Within two (2) days of receipt of the grievance, the Director of Employee Relations and Personnel shall review whether the building administrator has the authority to resolve the alleged grievance and, will either remand the grievance to the building for a Step 1 hearing or shall forward the grievance to the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources for processing at the Step 2 level.

ARTICLE V CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

5-1 Paychecks

Certificated employees shall be paid in twelve (12) equal installments, which shall be gross salary divided equally except for adjustments in the salary schedule, horizontal advancement, changes in assignments or other events that may effect salary which may occur during the contract period. Newly hired employees and employees terminating their employment will be paid according to the schedule developed by the Payroll Department. See Section 5-1a. below for an advancement of pay option for new employees starting work in August.

Employees shall have the option of receiving their remaining salary due for the contract year, with appropriate and necessary deductions, on the June payday. To exercise this accelerated payment option, a proper written election form must be filed and received by the Payroll Department by July 15th prior to the school year to which the election applies or prior to the first workday of the employees employed after July 15th. The election will remain in effect indefinitely as long as the employee is employed and this election is available to the employee group. The employee may revoke election effective for a future school year so long as the employee submits a written revocation prior to July 15th of the school year for which the revocation relates. Such revocation must be received by the Payroll Office, Box 32, LPSDO on or before July 15th of the school year for which the revocation relates.

- a. Advancement of Pay Employees newly hired under this Agreement and employees returning from a full-time non-paid leave of absence starting their assignment in August may elect an early payment up to \$1500, but not to exceed the amount earned. To exercise this payment option, a proper written election form must be filed and received by the Payroll Department prior to the employee's first workday. The payment shall be paid by the 10th of September, if the certificated employee's teaching certificate is on file in the Human Resources Office, with the remainder of the contracted salary divided into installments as set forth in 5-1.
- b. Pay dates will be in accordance with the schedule developed by the district. Pay dates for the time period covered by this contract are contained in Appendix C.

5-2 Outside Employment

Employees are not required to notify the school district of outside employment, unless the teacher is also employed by another Nebraska school district or other employer which is under the Nebraska School Employees' Retirement System.

Employees who have a District work-related injury are required to notify the District of any employment outside the District.

Employees who have a non-District work-related injury are also required to notify the District of any employment outside the District.

5-3 Length of Contract

The certificated employee contract will be 191 days in 2016-2017 and 2017-2018. Work activities shall include teaching or preparing to teach, attending building or district wide in-service activities, staff meetings and conferencing with parents. The certificated staff workday shall be seven and one-half (7.5) hours per day. Thirty (30) minutes of this time shall be duty free lunch.

5-4 Certificated Staff Duty Days

- a. The certificated employee contract will be 191 days in 2016-2017 and 2017-2018. For the contract year, eleven (11) days will be designated as staff duty days. The eleven (11) staff duty days shall be divided as follows:
 - (1) Five (5) days are designated as professional duty. During professional duty days, certificated employees will be on duty working in buildings or engaged in professional duties at their discretion. They will be placed as follows in the calendar: two (2) full days and one (1) half day prior to the first student day of the year; one (1) full day during the semester break; one (1) full day following the last student day of the year; one (1) half day scheduled according to principal discretion.
 - (2) Four (4) days are designated as building and/or district professional development.
 - (a) District Flex Hours (one day or seven hours) Quality professional development can increase the knowledge of academic content and teaching skills to enhance interaction

with students and their learning. The District is committed to meaningful and relevant staff development including teacher choice when possible.

In lieu of adding a day to the teacher calendar for district staff development during the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, employees are required to attend seven hours of district staff development activities, designated as contractual professional development, outside of the regular school calendar or outside of the regular school day each year. For the 2016-2017 school year, contractual professional development will be scheduled throughout the summer of 2016 and throughout the 2016-2017 school year. For the 2016-2017 school year, employees who do not attend seven hours of contractual professional development outside of the regular school calendar or outside of the regular school day prior to March 13, 2017, will have their salary docked for the amount of time missed.

For the 2017-2018 school year, contractual professional development will be scheduled throughout the summer of 2017 and throughout the 2017-2018 school year. For the 2017-2018 school year, employees who do not attend seven hours of contractual professional development outside of the regular school calendar or outside of the regular school day prior to a date yet to be determined, will have their salary docked for the amount of time missed.

Any mandatory district flex professional development session will be offered on more than one date.

(b) Building Flex Hours (one day or seven hours) - In lieu of adding a day to the teacher calendar for building staff development during the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, employees are required to complete seven hours of staff development activities, designated by their principal or supervisor, outside of the regular school calendar or outside of the regular school day each year. For the 2016-2017 school year, employees who do not attend seven hours of contractual professional development outside of the regular school calendar or outside of the regular school day prior to May 26, 2017, will have their salary docked for the amount of time missed.

For the 2017-2018 school year, employees who do not attend seven hours of contractual professional development outside of the regular school calendar or outside of the regular school day to a date yet to be determined will have their salary docked for the amount of time missed.

- (c) Scheduled Building/District Staff Development (2 days).
- (3) Two (2) days will be used for parent conferencing or as compensatory days for conferencing with parents.
- b. Staff members may be absent from the regularly scheduled staff development activities, as well as the PLC activities, only for specified reasons. Those specified reasons for acceptable absence are: sick leave as described in Section 8-1 a. (1).; emergency leave described in Section 8-1 a. (2).; adoption leave; civic leave; jury duty leave; bereavement leave; assault and/or battery leave; or professional leave. Staff members absent for reasons not listed above will receive a pay dock for the time missed.
- c. Part-time staff members are to attend all district and building staff development.

5-5 Inclement Weather Days

Certificated employees will not be required to make up the first two student days canceled due to inclement weather in each contract year. Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent the District from scheduling sufficient instructional hours to meet the requirement of the Nebraska statutes.

No absences will be charged against certificated employees on weather closure days.

5-6 Conferencing Days

In addition to the two (2) compensatory days described in 5-4 above, certificated employees shall receive up to three and one-half (3.5) hours per semester additional annual leave for time spent conferencing above the seven (7) hours per semester described in 5-4. Said time shall accumulate on a one-for-one basis above the seven hours. A maximum of three and one-half hours per semester (seven hours per year) may be earned in this manner.

Staff members may be absent from the regularly scheduled parent-teacher conferences only for specified reasons. Those specified reasons for acceptable absence are: sick leave as described in Section 8-1 a. (1).; emergency leave described in Section 8-1 a. (2).; adoption leave; civic leave; jury duty leave; bereavement leave; assault and/or battery leave; or professional leave. Staff members absent for reasons not listed above will receive a pay dock for the time missed.

5-7 Staff Development

The courses mandated for certificated employees will be provided without cost to certificated employees. Courses required by the State Department of Education for an endorsement are not considered mandated by the Lincoln Public Schools. The Staff Development Advisory Committee will be established with the LEA appointing five to serve on this committee. The scope and function of this advisory committee shall be determined by the committee.

- a. Formal professional growth records will be maintained only as required by statutes for this purpose.
- b. Participants who wish to place a total record of their formal professional growth activities in their personnel file may do so.
- c. Part-time employees have the opportunity to use staff development courses credit when making horizontal advancement on the salary schedule. Professional growth points are not required for part-time staff employed less than 50 percent. Probationary employees who are half time or more must complete 30 professional growth points before tenure is granted.
- d. All staff development activities conducted within the district will be labeled "Required" or "Voluntary". Certificated employees shall be expected to attend those sessions labeled as "Required".
- e. Staff development which shall be mandated as a requirement for Lincoln Public Schools certificated employees shall be offered during the contract day and cannot be used for horizontal advancement on the salary schedule.
- f. Receipts will be issued to all employees at the time they pay LPS for staff development courses. Copies of the receipts will also be retained by LPS so records may be kept regarding the professional growth activities of the certificated staff.

5-8 Personnel Handbook

Changes in the Personnel Handbook shall not be made without advice from the LEA leadership.

Where sections of the Professional Agreement are printed in the Personnel Handbook, the wording in the Personnel Handbook will be the same as that stated in the Professional Agreement.

5-9 Covering Class or Combining Classes in the Absence of a Substitute

Certificated employees shall not be required to cover a class for another certificated employee when a substitute is authorized and available. In an emergency situation where no other alternative is available, however, a certificated employee having a planning period may be asked by his or her principal or equivalent to cover a class but this assignment shall be divided equally among all certificated employees.

a. If the teacher gives up planning time, the compensation shall be paid at the rate of a workshop

leader per class hour (\$36.27 per hour in 2016-2017 and 2017-2018).

- b. In this emergency situation, if a teacher is asked to have additional students in their class due to a substitute not being available, the teacher shall be compensated:
 - By receiving workshop leader rate for one hour of coverage
 - When class-combining time exceeds one hour, the teacher shall instead receive a substitute teacher's pay for 3.75 hours.
 - When class combining time exceeds 3.75 hours, the teacher shall instead receive a substitute teacher's full day pay.
- c. If more than one teacher accepts additional students from the same class for which no substitute was available, they shall be compensated as follows:
 - By each teacher receiving workshop leader rate for one hour of coverage
 - When class combining time exceeds one hour, the teachers shall instead receive a substitute teacher's pay for 3.75 hours divided equally among the teachers who accept the students.
 - When class combining time exceeds 3.75 hours, the teachers shall instead receive a substitute teacher's full day pay divided equally among the teachers who accept the students.

5-10 Certificated Employee Visitation

New certificated employees will be provided an opportunity away from school and without classroom responsibilities to visit or participate in inservice activities within the district with the prior approval of the building principal and the Human Resources office during the first school year. The visitation or participation will be limited to one day equal to the employee's F.T.E.

5-11 Notification of Extended Contract Other Than Extra-Standard

Any certificated employee, other than team leaders, coordinators and department chairs, serving with an extended daily rate contract shall continue to serve from year-to-year unless notified by the Human Resources Department by April 15. During the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, the extended daily contract pay shall be 1/191 of the certificated employee's current base pay for each day of extended contract duty. Additional certificated employees authorized to serve on extended contract shall be notified in writing by the tenth contract day of the school year.

5-12 Itinerant Assignment

The district will attempt to limit interschool travel for certificated employees who are assigned to more than one school building. Such certificated employees will be notified of any changes in their assignment at least five (5) working days in advance of the change. A thirty-minute duty free lunch period will be provided daily. Planning time will be provided in accordance with Section 5-16, "Professional Time for Educators".

5-13 Staffing Resources

All employees shall have the opportunity to contribute to decisions regarding the utilization of staffing resources within their buildings as allocated.

5-14 Affirmative Action

The Board and the Association are committed to assuring equal educational opportunities for all students, to recognizing the rights and dignity of all persons, and to implementing policies which provide equal opportunity and ensure nondiscrimination in employment for all certificated employees. The Lincoln Public Schools shall actively recruit well-qualified and diverse certificated applicants.

5-15 Class Size Appeal Process

The following process is to be utilized by any certificated employee who, in his or her professional

judgment, believes that the number of students or the composition of students assigned to that certificated employee to be educationally improper. The certificated employee confers with his or her principal regarding the problem. In the event that the certificated employee and principal are unable to agree upon a mutually acceptable solution, the certificated employee and principal shall refer the matter to the Associate Superintendent for Instruction or designee. The Associate Superintendent shall respond in writing to the parties within seven (7) working days after the referral. The decision of the Associate Superintendent is not grievable.

5-16 Professional Time for Educators

a. Elementary Planning Time

- (1). The District shall provide a minimum of two hundred and fifty (250) minutes per week of planning time for all elementary certificated employees within the student day. Each week certificated employees shall receive daily blocks of planning time, three of which shall be at least fifty (50) minutes. Blocks of time less than twenty-five (25) minutes shall not be counted as planning time. The following will be scheduled within all buildings:
 - (a). Travel time between the back-to-back special classes *; and
 - (b). A minimum of 25-minute sections for each special class *.
 - (c). Five (5) minutes of preparation/set up time between fifty (50) minute sessions for special classes.*
 - *Special classes may include, but are not limited to, physical education, music, art, computer, creative expression, writing, science, media, etc.
- (2). Principals, with staff participation, shall schedule a 45-minute block of planning time per day immediately before or after the scheduled student day. Blocks of time less than 25 minutes are not counted as planning time.
- (3). The School District shall provide four (4) calendar days of planning time for elementary certificated employees within the student calendar and independent of the other staff development, compensatory and non-contract days. These days shall be allocated one per quarter for each certificated employee as individual planning time.
- (4). Every elementary certificated employee shall have the above-stated planning time. In the event scheduling conflicts do not allow the employee to receive all such planning time, the employee shall receive prorated optional pay for the amount of time not provided. Kindergarten teachers by mutual agreement with their principal will schedule their planning time either in one (1) 50-minute block of time or two (2) 25-minute blocks of time per day.

b. Middle School Level Planning Time

It is educationally sound and desirable that middle school buildings, in order to meet the needs of their students and faculty, be allowed to design middle school plan time delivery systems which may vary from building to building.

Regrouping of students within the student contact time is allowable for middle school buildings at the educators' discretion. Daily plan time may be adjusted at the educators' discretion, in order to accommodate the regrouping of students, provided that educators receive 500 minutes of plan time per week within the confines of the student day.

Home base, as designed by individual buildings, may be implemented during the regular student day. This will require prorated compensation at optional period pay should the home base delivery system result in a loss of plan time and/or an increase in the educators' standard number of students seen in a day. Acceptance of a home base assignment by a certificated employee shall be strictly voluntary.

c. Secondary Planning Time

Planning time is provided for certificated employees with regularly scheduled classes. All secondary certificated employees with regularly scheduled classes shall have five (5) duty periods and two (2) plan periods.

d. Counselor Office Time

All counselors shall have the same amount of office time per day as the planning time that is provided per day to other certificated employees at the same level during which they may work on individual tasks and planning needs without other assigned duties.

5-17 Night School Assignment

Night school assignments shall be voluntary. If no staff members volunteer for a night school assignment, they may be assigned by the principal. Certificated employees shall not be involuntarily assigned to a night school assignment two (2) years consecutively.

5-18 Guidelines for General Staff Meetings

Association and district leaders recognize that building meetings are essential to the effective operation of our schools and that such meetings will, on occasion, extend beyond the regular work day hours. In response to an increasing interest in recent years on the part of educators in becoming involved in the decision-making process, the district has sought to provide for meaningful staff discussion and participation in formulating programs and procedures that directly affect them. Such involvement is, obviously, time consuming and cannot always be accommodated within the regular school days due to the need to protect educator/student contact time.

Both the Lincoln Education Association and the District would like to function in an environment in which participatory management is successful and where professional educators have increased choice about their attendance at meetings. To that end, (1) an agenda for all general staff meetings shall be developed and distributed to staff no later than the day before the meeting; (2) all general staff meeting agendas shall clearly indicate if the meeting is mandatory or optional for staff attendance; and (3) the length of all general staff meetings shall be reasonable and take into account the time constraints that exist upon the staff, that general staff meetings occur when a staff has already put (or will be putting) in a full contract day with students, and reflect the fact that staff are already performing additional duties on a regular basis outside of the contract day.

Should any staff member(s) have recurring concerns about the number or length of mandatory general staff meetings in their building, not receive agendas on time or not have agendas which clearly indicate if meetings are optional or mandatory, or question the need for the meeting based upon its content, the staff member(s) shall document their concern. Documented concerns shall be shared with the building administrator. Should concerns about general staff meetings continue at the building, documented concerns along with steps which have already been taken at the building level shall be sent to both the Associate Superintendent for Instruction and the Lincoln Education Association President. These two individuals shall review the documentation and conduct additional fact finding as necessary. In the event that the Associate Superintendent for Instruction and the Lincoln Education Association President agree there are concerns regarding a building's general staff meeting schedule, a conference between the principal and the Associate Superintendent for Instruction shall take place to address and correct the concerns. Should the Associate Superintendent for Instruction and the Lincoln Education Association President fail to agree regarding a staff member(s)'s concern, either the Associate Superintendent for Instruction or the Lincoln Education Association President may take the issue to the LEA-LPS Professional Committee (PROCOM) for a final decision.

The above outlined procedures do not apply to staff meetings that are called in response to an emergency situation.

5-19 Variance

The Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association recognize that there can be deterrents to school improvement. These deterrents may occur in Nebraska Department of Education Regulations, School Board Policy, Administrative Regulations or the Professional Agreement. In order for sites to overcome these deterrents, a Site Variance Process has been developed. The process is outlined in the Certificated Personnel Handbook. The site variance process may only be changed with the consent of the LPS Board of Education and the Lincoln Education Association Board of Directors.

Further, the Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association recognize that public education is an ever-changing arena due to multiple factors. As such, both opportunities and needs can arise which can call for the need for a site/sites to vary from the Professional Agreement.

Should the need arise, the leadership of both the Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association will first meet to discuss the circumstances, confer and agree as to whether or not the change is warranted. Both the Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association will receive a written report from the site regarding the collaboration, communication, options for staff, and evaluation process before the variance is approved for implementation at the site.

Both the Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association shall sign off on the site variance before it is implemented. Should either the Lincoln Public Schools or the Lincoln Education Association decide the request for a variance is not necessary, the site shall go through the original Site Variance Process as outlined in the Certificated Personnel Handbook.

5-20 "Best Practices" of Student Discipline Handbook

PROCOM developed the "Best Practices" of Student Discipline Handbook to provide a practical tool for all staff to facilitate communication and to improve student discipline practices and procedures throughout the district. The Handbook is not meant to be comprehensive and it is expected that it will be updated on a regular basis to include additional "best practices" that staff members develop. The Handbook is not meant to replace or supersede any existing LPS policies or State and Federal laws.

Copies of the Handbook shall be made available to all certificated staff on the LPS web site.

The Handbook may be revised as needed. All revisions in the Handbook shall be developed by a joint LPS/LEA Committee. Any changes in the Handbook shall be jointly agreed upon by the Lincoln Education Association Board of Directors and representatives of the Lincoln Public Schools.

5-21 Report Cards

Submission of secondary report cards will be required no sooner than 4:00 p.m. on the third contract day after the end of the first, second and third quarters. Submission of elementary report cards will be required no sooner than 4:00 p.m. on the fifth contract day after the end of the first, second and third quarters. Submission of secondary report cards will be required no sooner than 4:00 p.m. on the last contract day after the end of the fourth quarter.

ARTICLE VI CHANGES IN PLACEMENT

6-1 General Information

- a. Voluntary transfers shall be defined as those initiated by the employee as documented by written application.
- b. Involuntary transfers shall be defined as those resulting from written administrative action.
- c. Surplusing shall be defined as the need for reassignment of staff due to enrollment decreases, budget limitations, or program changes; it is not a reduction in force where termination or contract

amendment will occur.

- d. Reduction in Force (RIF) shall be defined as reduction in staff by termination or contract amendment due to enrollment decreases, budget limitations, or program changes in the event no vacancy exists in the district for which the certificated employee is qualified.
- e. Seniority shall be defined as the length of a certificated employee's continuous service in the bargaining unit from the most recent date of being placed on a continuous contract. Seniority shall begin on the first contract day on which the employee reports for duty.
 - (1) Seniority shall accrue during authorized leaves of absence, and layoffs up to twenty-four (24) months or as otherwise mandated by law. Seniority shall not be interrupted by voluntary or involuntary transfers.
 - (2) The district-wide seniority order for certificated employees will be determined by the start date of their continuing employment agreement. Certificated employees with identical reporting dates will have their placement order determined by random computer placement within that report date. Once the order is established, no changes will occur except those allowed within the negotiated agreement.
 - (3) The district-wide seniority list shall be prepared and made available on the LPS website on or about November 1. The validity of the seniority list shall become final and no longer subject to grievance following the first contract day in January. Paper copies of the seniority list will be produced for the Association and the District after finalization.
 - (4) Seniority shall end upon resignation, retirement, failure to return to work at the expiration of a leave of absence, failure to be recalled within twenty-four (24) months from the date of a layoff, or termination of employment for other reasons.
- f. Assignment shall be defined as:
 - (1) school building for elementary certificated employees assigned to an elementary building;
 - (2) subject area assignment for certificated employees in a middle school building;
 - (3) department for certificated employees in a high school building;
 - (4) positions within any assigned building requiring special endorsement(s) or qualifications; PROCOM will agree on positions requiring special qualifications for purposes of applying the provisions of surplusing and reduction in force. The list of positions will be distributed on or about November 1. Revisions may be made by PROCOM at any time;
 - (5) duties assigned in the current year within any school, other location, or configuration of work sites for itinerant certificated employees;
 - (6) a list of certificated staff and their assignment shall be prepared and made available on the district website on or about November 1. The assignment(s) listed will include those positions requiring special qualifications as referenced in Section 6-1 f. (4) above. The accuracy of the assignment list shall become final and no longer subject to grievance following the first contract day in January.

6-2 Placement of Staff

- a. Consideration for filling vacancies shall be in the following order:
 - (1) Voluntary transfers
 - (2) Surplus/RIF
 - (3) Leave of absence
 - (4) Part-time
 - (5) New hires

- b. Once there is assurance that positions exist for current certificated employees, part-time employees may be considered for an increase in their contractual time, and new staff may be considered for employment. Within areas of endorsement or qualification, current surplused certificated employees will be assigned before newly hired certificated employees.
- c. If vacancies are available, Human Resources shall make at least three (3) interview offers or job offers to eligible surplused certificated employees. In the event a surplused person declines three (3) interview offers or job offers, Human Resources may place the employee in an appropriate position.
- d. During the transfer process, any position for which there are no in-district surplused certificated applicants may be filled by a new hire.

6-3 Surplusing

- a. Prior to declaration of a surplusing in an assignment, the Principal shall make a request for a volunteer to accept surplusing status and/or the Principal may exercise his/her right to reassign current staff to an anticipated vacancy within that school. Declaration of a surplusing and reassignment within a building shall be documented in writing.
- b. In the event the need arises for surplusing certificated staff, district-wide seniority shall be the determining factor in reduction within an assignment.
- c. Certificated employees involved in surplusing will be encouraged to participate in the voluntary transfer process.
- d. It is in the best interest of staff and students not to divide full-time positions into multiple parttime positions when other practical alternatives are available. Thus, an individual within the assignment area with less seniority can be retained in their position in order to surplus a parttime person within the department to match the needed reduction in staff within the assignment.

6-4 Voluntary Transfer

- a. An updated list of present vacancies and known vacancies for the following school year will be posted on the LPS website starting on or before March 15. The posting of vacancies will continue up to 30 calendar days prior to the first contract day of the building with the vacancy. If all surplused teachers have not been assigned, posting shall continue past 30 days prior to the first contract day. The vacancy list shall include:
 - (1) Position title
 - (2) Building location
 - (3) Status, i.e., permanent, temporary, part-time or itinerant
 - (4) Qualifications: Courses to be taught and if elementary, grade and subject matter emphasis.

At all times, an updated list shall be available at the Human Resources Office.

- b. Posting: If posted, no vacancy shall be permanently filled within five (5) working days of the date of posting.
- c. Procedures: Every employee on continuing contract shall have the right to apply for any vacancy for which he/she is certificated and endorsed by contacting the Human Resources Office within the five (5) day posting period. All certificated employees applying for a voluntary transfer shall, after contacting the Human Resources Department, be allowed to submit a letter of application and resume to the principal or supervisor where the vacancy exists.

Applicants selected for an interview will be notified by the Human Resources Department. Other applicants will be notified, in writing, by the Human Resources Department within ten (10) days

- that they have not been selected for an interview. Interviewees not selected for the position will be notified by Human Resources within ten (10) days from the time the position has been filled.
- d. Certificated employees exchange shall be defined as the exchange of assignments between two staff members in different buildings with the approval of both principals. Such exchange shall be for a one (1) year trial. At the end of one (1) year, a request for discontinuation of the exchange by any of the affected teachers or principals will be honored. An exchange extended beyond one (1) year shall become permanent.

6-5 Reduction In Force

- a. Bumping Procedures In the event no vacancy exists for the certificated employee who is subject to reduction in force, the certificated employee may exercise system-wide seniority to bump the certificated employee with the least amount of system-wide seniority in the school system in the assignment in which the certificated employee has been teaching. If no such less senior certificated employee exists, he/she may bump the least senior certificated employee to which he/she is senior in another field or teaching area for which he/she is certificated and endorsed or where certification and endorsement is not applicable, by reason of college credits in the teaching area. Certificated employees may not bump to administrative positions.
- b. Reduction in Force When it is no longer possible for any certificated employee who is subject to reduction in force to bump another certificated employee, the certificated employee will be laid off according to Nebraska School Law.
- c. Recall from Layoff Any certificated employee whose contract has been amended because of reduction in force shall be considered to have been terminated or to have had his/her contract amended with honor and shall upon request be provided a letter to that effect. Such certificated employee shall have preferred rights to reemployment for a period of twenty-four (24) months commencing at the end of the contract year and the employee shall be recalled on the basis of length of service to the school district, to any position for which the certificated employee is qualified by endorsement or college preparation to teach. The certificated employee shall, upon reappointment, retain any benefits which had accrued to said certificated employee prior to termination or contract amendment, but such leave of absence shall not be considered as time of employment by the district. A certificated employee under contract to another education institution may waive recall but such waiver shall not deprive the certificated employee of the certificated employee's right to subsequent recall.

ARTICLE VII PROFESSIONAL APPRAISAL

- 7-1 Professional appraisal is the systematic formal summative review instrument recommended by a joint committee made up of five persons appointed by the Board of Education and five persons appointed by the Lincoln Education Association. Said committee shall be called the Teacher Appraisal Joint Committee.
- 7-2 Any proposed changes in the summative review instrument will be recommended by the Teacher Appraisal Joint Committee and shall be jointly agreed upon by the Lincoln Education Association Board and the Lincoln Public Schools Board.
- **7-3** The appraisal process and summative review instrument shall be consistent with the Board policy on appraisal.
- 7-4 a. The certificated employee may submit a written statement and/or rebuttal which must be attached to all file copies of the appraisal. Certificated employees shall have seven (7) working days after being notified of any appraisal document that has been written, submitted, and made available to them by the appraiser in which to file a response or ten calendar days if after the end of the school year.
 - b. No teacher's self-assessment written or otherwise provided as any part of the appraisal process

or any self-assessment requested by an appraiser shall be used to move a certificated employee to a Notice of Performance Concern or used against the certificated employee in any action up to and including cancellation or termination of a contract.

7-5 Certificated employees have the right to ask for Association representation at any step of the appraisal process or when formal action regarding job performance will result in concerns or expectations being presented in writing to the employee to be placed in a building or district file.

ARTICLE VIII LEAVES FROM DUTY

8-1 Selection of Annual Leave Options

Employees hired prior to the 2012-2013 school year had the opportunity to choose between two annual leave plans, options A and B described below. Those employees who chose Option A may move from Option A to Option B during the first 30 contract days of each school year. Those employees who chose Option B must remain on Option B.

Employees initially hired for the 2016-2017 school year and after will be placed on Option B only. Employees who were hired prior to the 2016-2017 school year, terminate their employment as a certificated employee, and then return to employment as a certificated employee for the 2016-2017 school year or after will be placed on Option B only. Employees returning from a leave of absence who were on Option A prior to taking the leave of absence may stay on Option A.

For purposes of reimbursement at time of employee separation from the school district, days accumulated under the respective options (Option A or Option B) shall remain that type of day. Current employees who chose Option B during the 1995-96 leave option window converted all existing accumulated leave to Option B days. The ability to convert all accumulated leave to Option B days was a one time opportunity.

a. Fourteen Day Annual Leave Plan (Option A)

Full-time certificated employees shall receive fourteen (14) days or 98 hours of paid annual leave each year cumulative to the number of days/hours in the certificated employee's contract. Part-time employees receive a prorated amount.

- (1). Annual leave must be used for illness or medical disability during the course of the contract. Absence due to personal injury or accident, absence due to illness of family members residing in the same home and also children, parents, parents-in-law, and siblings not residing in the same home, and absence due to the quarantine laws of the State are interpreted as eligible for annual leave. In addition, an employee who is temporarily disabled from a medical standpoint by reason of pregnancy, childbirth, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy and child delivery is within this provision for the period of such medical disability. Annual leave is classified as current or accumulative.
- (2). Two (2) annual leave days may be used for the purpose of attending to emergencies pertaining to personal or legal matters. Twenty-four hour notice, when possible, shall be given by the certificated employee to the immediate supervisor. Request for use of two annual leave days for emergencies will be made to the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources in writing, explaining the reason for the absence. The Associate Superintendent will determine if the absence qualifies for leave. The following items are typical of approved requests for emergency use of annual leave.
 - (a). Transactions of serious personal business which cannot be arranged for at a time other than school hours. (Seeking, preparing for, or working at other employment is excluded.)
 - (b). Legal arrangements which are related to the immediate family of the employee.
 - (c). Compliance with a court subpoena.

- (d). Special examinations administered by a university for an advanced degree.
- (e). Extension of bereavement leave.
- (f). Emergencies which are beyond the control of the employee.
- (g). Absences of an employee resulting from mandatory pre-induction physical examination requested by the Selective Service System, the National Guard, or the Military Reserve.
- (h). Religious observances which cannot be fulfilled prior to or after the normal school day schedule.
- (i). The death of a friend, relative or acquaintance, if not covered by bereavement leave.
- (j). Attendance at the graduation or wedding of the employee or members of the employee's immediate family.
- (k). Extension of sick leave when it becomes exhausted.
- (I). Care for family illness.
- (3). Two (2) annual leave days, subject to the availability of a substitute as verified by Human Resources, may be used as special leave days at the certificated employee's discretion without explanation. With a minimum of two (2) weeks advance notice, the special leave days may be used directly or in conjunction with unpaid leave, to extend absences before or after holidays or non-contract days. In these instances, special leave day(s) will be granted on a first come first served basis and no more than 5% (fractions rounded up) of a building level certificated staff needing a substitute may use the special leave day(s). Annual leave as special leave may not be used in the first ten (10) nor the last fifteen (15) student contact days of the school year unless the reason for use is within the criteria indicated in paragraph (2) above.
- (4). During the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, certificated employees who terminate their employment as a certificated employee under this Agreement and separate from the Lincoln Public Schools following twenty (20) years of employment as a certificated employee, will receive \$16.50 per hour for each hour of accumulated annual leave. The accumulated annual leave will be calculated as of June 30 of the contract year in which employment is discontinued.

The leave of certificated employees who terminate their employment as a certificated employee under this Agreement but who do not separate from the Lincoln Public Schools will be administered as per the processes developed by the Payroll Department.

A payment for unused accumulated Option A leave upon termination of employment under this Agreement, which meets the qualifications of the district non-elective 403 (b) plan, will be paid through a contribution to such plan subject to the annual contribution limit under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 415. Any amount in excess of the annual contribution limit of IRC section 415 will be paid as taxable compensation to the employee.

b. Eleven Day Annual Leave Plan (Option B)

Full-time certificated employees shall receive eleven (11) days (77 hours) of paid annual leave each year. Accumulation of unused annual leave shall be unlimited. Part-time employees receive a prorated amount. Annual leave may be used as sick leave or discretionary leave. When employees have used all eleven (11) current leave days, they may use accumulated leave as sick leave. In order for certificated employees to have used all eleven (11) current leave days for the purposes of dipping into accumulated leave, the eleven days must have actually been utilized and an absence taken place.

- (1). Annual and accumulated annual leave may be used as sick leave. Sick leave shall mean absence due to personal illness, injury or accident, absence due to illness of family members residing in the same home and also children, parents, parents-in-law and siblings not residing in the same home, and absence due to quarantine laws of the State. In addition, an employee who is temporarily disabled from a medical standpoint by reason of pregnancy, childbirth, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy and child delivery is within this provision for the period of such medical disability. Sick leave shall not be subject to approval by the building supervisor/principal.
- (2). Annual leave may be used as discretionary days. Use shall be at the discretion of the employee. The employee shall not be required to provide reason for the leave. There shall be no restrictions on the use of leave beyond the established procedures for arranging for absences beyond those outlined in 5-4, Certificated Duty Days, section b; and 5-6, Conferencing Days; and as outlined in the section below.
- (3). Annual leave may be used for prearranged days. In the event an employee wishes to prearrange an absence for any reason other than medical reasons, the days shall be available subject to availability of substitutes and shall be granted on a first come first served basis. No more than five (5) percent (fractions rounded up) of building level certificated staff needing a substitute may use prearranged days on a given day.

Pre-arranged days for use for the first ten (10) or the last fifteen (15) student contact days of the school year, or the day immediately before or after scheduled breaks, shall be defined as days in which certificated employees know more than twenty-four (24) hours in advance that they will need to be absent from work due to one of the reasons listed in 8-1 a. (2). Employees wishing to pre-arrange an absence for the first ten (10) or the last fifteen (15) student contact days of the school year, or the day immediately before or after scheduled breaks, whose absence is related to any of the emergency leave provisions listed in 8-1 a. (2) (a) through (I), shall fill out their leave request on the District's substitute management system and indicate which emergency leave provision is applicable. No further approval is required for the absence.

Employees wishing to pre-arrange leave not covered in 8-1 a. (2) (a) through (I) shall request leave from Human Resources and copy their principals with specifics for the need of their requested leave, waiting until their request is authorized before entering it into the District's substitute management system. Employees may also include additional details (e.g., record of their leave accumulation or other information they believe is pertinent) which they believe the District will find of value in considering the leave request.

Human Resources shall have the authority to authorize use of prearranged annual leave for reasons other than illness during this period.

Disciplinary action may be taken against staff members absent during this period not meeting the above criteria which may include a pay dock for the time missed.

Teachers needing leave at any time of the year for absences which qualify as: (a) adoption leave; (b) civic leave; (c) jury duty leave; (d) bereavement leave; (e) assault/ battery leave; or (f) professional leave will follow the approval process for that type of leave.

(4). During the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, certificated employees who terminate their employment as a certificated employee under this Agreement and separate from the Lincoln Public Schools following ten (10) years of employment as a certificated employee will receive \$16.50 per hour for each hour of accumulated annual leave. The accumulated annual leave will be calculated as of June 30 of the contract year in which employment is discontinued.

The leave of certificated employees who terminate their employment as a certificated employee under this Agreement but who do not separate from the Lincoln Public Schools will be administered as per the processes developed by the Payroll Department.

A payment for unused accumulated Option B leave upon termination of employment under this Agreement, which meets the qualifications of the district non-elective 403 (b) plan, will be paid through a contribution to such plan subject to the annual contribution limit under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 415. Any amount in excess of the annual contribution limit of IRC section 415 will be paid as taxable compensation to the employee.

- (5). A certificated employee who terminates his/her employment as a certificated employee under this Agreement and who separates from the Lincoln Public Schools with less than ten years of employment shall receive payment for one half of the employee's accumulated leave at the current value per hour contained in 8-1 b. (4) above. The leave of certificated employees who terminate their employment as a certificated employee under this Agreement but who do not separate from the Lincoln Public Schools will be administered as per the processes developed by the Payroll Department. The payment for unused accumulated Option B leave upon termination of employment under this Agreement, which meets the qualifications of the district non-elective 403 (b) plan, will be paid through a contribution to such plan subject to the annual contribution limit under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 415. Any amount in excess of the annual contribution limit of IRC section 415 will be paid as taxable compensation to the employee.
- (6). When a certificated employee's annual leave has all been used, accumulated leave may be used for either sick leave or the purpose of attending to emergencies pertaining to personal or legal matters. Twenty-four hour notice, when possible, shall be given by the certificated employee to the immediate supervisor. Request for use of annual leave for an emergency shall be made to the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources in writing, explaining the reason for the absence. The Associate Superintendent will determine if the absence qualifies for leave. The items typical of approved requests are listed in 8-1 a. (2) above.

c. Additional Leave Guidelines Applying to All Certificated Employees for Options A or B

The following guidelines apply to all certificated employees regardless of which annual leave option they have chosen.

- (1). Certificated employees on continuing contract who have exhausted their accumulated leave may borrow up to eleven (11) days of the next year's allotment. Said leave may only be used for sick leave as defined in section 8-1 b. (1) above. If the certificated employee resigns before earning the borrowed days from the succeeding year, the certificated employee will have his/her pay reduced at the daily rate of pay before final payment is made. Should illness, however, be the reason leading to resignation or termination of the certificated employee, the certificated employee shall not be required to pay back the borrowed days.
- (2). Worker's compensation salary benefits do not begin until seven (7) calendar days after the date of injury. Employees who sustain a compensable work related injury will not be docked for the work days that fall within that seven (7) calendar days. In addition, employees will not be docked for time spent receiving medical treatment related to the injury. If an employee is disabled beyond six (6) weeks, worker's compensation benefits will be paid for the first seven (7) days. At that time, the amount paid under worker's compensation will be deducted from the payroll check.
- (3). If the disability occurs during non-contract days, the employee will not receive leave pay, since no contract days were lost as a result of the disability. If the disability continues into the next contract year, annual and accumulated leave may be used.
- (4). If the employee requests and is granted unpaid leave, and thereafter becomes physically disabled as determined medically, annual leave pay will not be provided.
- (5). If a member of the immediate family is recommended for treatment through the Employee Assistance Program counselor, the employee may use accumulated leave for the duration of the prescribed treatment, but not to exceed fifteen (15) working days per incident.

- (6). Any employee anticipating a long-term disability is encouraged to notify the immediate supervisor and/or the Human Resources Office to assist the District in staff replacement.
- (7). Leave shall be recorded and available for use on an hourly basis. Employees who opt to request half-day or full-days of leave or who utilize the hourly option, will not have leave returned to them if they return to duty earlier than from the amount of leave time initially requested and approved.

8-2 Adoption Leave

At the time of adoption, an employee who adopts a child shall be allowed to use a maximum of twenty (20) days of either accumulated or sub-deduct leave. In unusual circumstances, such as, but not limited to, an adoption occurring outside of the U.S., the employee may request the use of an additional ten (10) days of either accumulated or sub-deduct leave. Such request will be made to the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources. The accumulated and sub-deduct leave may be used in any combination at the employee's discretion.

The district shall comply with all state and federal laws concerning adoption leave.

8-3 Civic Leave

An employee appointed to a city, county, or state committee, board or commission, or who is serving as an officer or on a board, excluding advisory or adjunct, in a community organization, may request civic leave with pay on forms provided by the Human Resources Department. Such leave will normally be allowed by the Human Resources Department on the approval of the Board providing the time involved does not exceed a total of two (2) work days or fourteen (14) hours per month.

8-4 Jury Duty

Employees of the Lincoln Public School District are encouraged to fulfill their citizenship obligation of jury duty. Their salary will continue during time spent in jury service.

If an employee, upon reporting for jury duty in the morning, learns that he/she is dismissed from jury duty for the remainder of the day, he/she is to report to duty at his/her school and to resume duties or do additional building work as assigned for the balance of the day. When entirely dismissed from jury duty, the employee is directed to report for duty at school.

8-5 Bereavement Leave

A total of not more than five (5) consecutive work days on full pay is allowed each employee for absence in case of death in the immediate family, defined as spouse, children, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother, sister, grandchildren, son-in-law and daughter-in-law, or person in the same home as part of the family for the purpose of attending the funeral or attending to matters related to the death. A total of not more than three (3) consecutive workdays on full pay is allowed for each employee for absence in case of death of other members of the family, defined as brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent, aunt, uncle, niece or nephews for the purpose of attending the funeral or attending to matters related to the death.

Bereavement leave is not limited to five or three days respectively in one year, but covers each death in the immediate family which occurs during the year.

An employee shall be excused, without loss of pay, to attend funeral services of relatives and/or friends other than those listed above provided no substitute is required. If, however, a substitute must be provided, the employee will be required to pay the cost of substitute only.

8-6 Assault and/or Battery Leave

Any employee missing contract days due to injury as the result of physical assault while within the scope of his/her employment with the Lincoln Public Schools shall not have those days charged against accumulated sick leave days.

After five (5) work days, continued absence is authorized only upon recommendation of the employee's personal physician.

a. The term "assault" and "battery" shall be defined for purposes of this section as an assault and battery inflicted within the scope of the individual's employment. Assault is defined as the threat or use of force on another that causes that person to have a reasonable apprehension of imminent harmful or offensive contact; the act of putting another person in reasonable fear or apprehension of an immediate battery by means of an act amounting to an attempt or threat to commit a battery. Battery is defined as the application of force to another, resulting in harmful or offensive contact.

In the event that an employee of the Lincoln Public Schools should be subject to an assault and/or battery while within the scope of his/her employment with the Lincoln Public Schools, the employee should take the following action:

- (1) The employee should immediately notify the Lincoln Police Department of the alleged assault or battery.
- (2) The employee should notify the Building Principal or in the absence of the Building Principal, the Assistant Principal of the alleged assault or battery.
- (3) The standard procedures for reporting accidents shall thereafter be followed.
- (4) If the employee is not satisfied that the prosecuting officials are taking appropriate action with regard to the alleged incident, the employee may report the same to the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources. In addition, if the employee is a member of the LEA, the employee should advise the Executive Director of the LEA of the situation. The Associate Superintendent for Human Resources and, if applicable, the Executive Director of the LEA should attempt to ascertain the status of any criminal proceedings and coordinate their efforts to obtain appropriate action by the prosecuting officials.
- (5) In the event that the employee wishes to take any civil action to recover his/her damages against the perpetrator of the assault or battery, this is a private legal proceeding; therefore, the employee will need to obtain his/her own legal counsel to assist the employee in presentation of such claims.
- (6) Employees should recognize that the determination of what criminal proceedings will be commenced against the perpetrator of an assault or battery is the function and responsibility of either the Legal Department of the City of Lincoln or the County Attorney of Lancaster County. Neither the Board of Education nor the LEA have any standing to actually commence any such proceedings. The Board of Education and, if applicable, the LEA will, however, endeavor to assist the employee in bringing relevant information to the attention of the appropriate prosecuting officials.

8-7 Exchange Teachers

The district may grant a paid leave of absence to an employee accepted as an exchange teacher. The employee must receive Board approval prior to accepting an exchange teaching position. This certificated employee shall retain all tenure and other employment rights with prior position and assignment guaranteed for the subsequent year upon return to the Lincoln Public Schools. A full year of experience shall be granted a certificated employee on exchange for each year of exchange service. Such service shall not interrupt the employee's seniority.

8-8 Professional Leave

Professional leave may be granted for attendance at meetings or conferences which are directly related to the employee's major academic areas of responsibility. The Request for Leave form must show written approval of the principal, department chairperson and/or the curriculum specialist. When assigned or requested by the District, expenses will be paid according to the District's expense

account policies.

Professional leave will be granted to a teacher subpoenaed due to the teacher's professional responsibilities as an employee of the Lincoln Public Schools.

8-9 Unpaid Leaves

When no other leave may be utilized, an employee may make application for an unpaid leave. Deduction in compensation for such absence shall be made.

- a. An unpaid leave of absence will not be granted beyond the balance of the school year plus one additional year. Upon application of the certificated employee, a leave may be specifically extended by the Board beyond said period of time. Such leave of absence will specify the date of return to duty. During periods of such leave, the employee shall retain all provisions as outlined below.
 - (1) The right to return to the former position. In the event that the district is anticipating a surplus/RIF situation, persons returning from a one-year leave of absence will be placed in the employee pool at the building they came from, prior to surplus/RIF procedures being applied. A year of leave shall be defined as being on unpaid leave for more than a semester.
 - (2) If the employee extends the leave beyond one year, the employee shall have waived the right to return to his/her former position, and shall be considered for placement after surplused certificated employees. The employee will be placed on furlough status if no vacancy exists. Persons returning from multiple year leaves of absence will be placed in the district-wide transfer surplus pool prior to RIF based upon seniority. They will be placed or RIFed according to the reduction in force language in Article VI.
 - (3) Certificated employees on unpaid leave shall have the opportunity to continue health and dental coverage, as governed by COBRA regulations and the underwriting guidelines of the policies. District life insurance availability is limited to one year. The district death benefit plan is not available during unpaid leave unless the leave is for health reasons.
 - (4) The right to salary advancement and benefits which had been earned prior to the beginning of the leave period.
 - (5) In the event an employee on approved unpaid leave is employed in another school district during said leave, if such experience would be recognized for purposes of placement of new hires, said employee shall have such experience credited to them consistent with the <u>Placement of New Hires Chart</u> (Appendix A) for the current year should they return to active service with LPS. Nothing in this language shall be construed to deny an employee salary advancement and benefits earned under item (3) of this section.
- b. Alternative Employment A certificated employee who has five consecutive years of service may be granted a leave of absence for up to one year to accept employment elsewhere provided that supportive recommendations be secured from the immediate supervisor, curriculum specialist and the Human Resources Office and if a suitable one-year replacement can be found.
- c. Elected Office Leave The employee shall notify the Board in writing of his/her name for seeking public office.
 - (1) If the employee wishes to campaign during working hours, a personal leave may be requested.
 - (2) An employee who is elected to any subdivision of Government shall be entitled to an unpaid leave of absence for the length of term of office.
- d. Family Leave Leave shall be granted because of pregnancy, childbirth, child rearing, adoption, caring for a foster child, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy and recovery therefrom.

Additionally, leave shall be granted for the purpose of caring for parents or attending to family business requiring extended absence from work.

8-10 Association Leave

The Lincoln Board of Education agrees to provide the Association with sixty (60) days of paid Association leave during those school years in which negotiations are taking place and thirty (30) days of paid leave during those school years in which negotiations are not taking place. The 30-day limit during those school years in which negotiations are not taking place may be increased by ProCom for extensive joint committee work. Additional association days may be purchased on the basis of substitute deduction.

The Association leave shall be only for the purpose of professional association work at the local, state or national level and all such days shall require the authorization of the Association President. Up to a full time reduction for the President or another certificated employee may be utilized by the Association by payment to the district of an amount equal to 100% of the President's or other employee's salary and the cost of leave accrued during the term of that person. The cost of the leave accrued shall be computed by multiplying the number of hours accrued by \$16.50.

8-11 Catastrophic Illness Leave

Employees who suffer a catastrophic illness, or whose spouse suffers a catastrophic illness during the course of a contract year and whose available annual and accumulated leave has been exhausted shall be eligible for sub-deduct leave for the remainder of the contract year.

8-12 Part-Time Leave

Full-time certificated tenured employees who request part-time leave of absence shall have the right to return to their former full-time position if the leave does not extend beyond one year. If the leave is extended beyond one year, the district will make a reasonable attempt to place the employee in a full-time assignment when requested to do so.

8-13 Voluntary Leave Transfer for Catastrophic Illness

The Voluntary Leave Transfer gives certificated staff the opportunity to help fellow employees by donating annual leave to employees faced with serious personal or family medical conditions that require their absence from duty for a prolonged period of time.

In order to be a leave recipient an employee must:

- a. Be a member of the LEA bargaining unit.
- b. Exhaust all other types of available leave with the exception of Catastrophic Illness Leave (see 8-11).
- c. Provide the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources, or their designee, with written confirmation from a physician on the approved LPS form that the employee or immediate family member is suffering from a medical condition requiring the employee be absent from work. For purposes of this program, immediate family shall be defined as family members residing in the same home as well as children, parents, parents-in-law and siblings not residing in the same home.

An employee is not eligible for leave donation during the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years if that employee sold any leave during the 2005-2006 school year.

After the Associate Superintendent for Human Resources has approved an employee as a leave recipient, certificated staff may either donate Option A annual sick leave, emergency leave or special leave and Option B annual leave to the leave account of the recipient. (It should be noted that Federal law prohibits the donation of accumulated leave for this purpose.) Said donation shall be submitted in writing on the form provided by the Human Resources Office for this purpose.

Approved leave recipients may solicit leave donation from within their own building and/or use District or Association communication channels. In order to protect employee privacy, no solicitation of leave shall be undertaken without their prior approval.

Leave shall be requested in a block of time not greater than 33 days and not greater than the remainder of the current school year. An employee may use a maximum of 33 days of donated leave within one school year.

The donation shall be made in whole day increments and submitted in writing on the form designated by Human Resources. Leave shall be transferred in the order received and any leave remaining shall be returned to the original contributor.

Staff may make additional leave transfer requests if the illness extends beyond the original anticipated date. All leave transfer donations shall be treated as confidential.

Leave may be transferred to and from an employee in another employee group, if that group has a similar leave transfer for catastrophic illness and that group agrees to a reciprocating arrangement with the Association.

ARTICLE IX COMPENSATION

The basic salary schedules, for 2016-2017 and 2017-2018, included in the Agreement as Appendix A, shall be implemented under the following terms:

9-1 Effective Date of Salary Schedule

The schedule shall become effective on the date the certificated employee reports for the new school year and all payments of wages on or after this date shall be paid according to schedule.

9-2 Salary Lane Adjustments

- a. Lane Adjustments
 - Lane adjustments may be made at any time during the contract year. Certificated employees shall make application on an intent form provided by Human Resources. Salary adjustment resulting from horizontal movement shall be effective on the contract day that all necessary documentation is received by the Human Resources Office and will appear in the certificated employee's first appropriate paycheck following receipt of the documentation (in September if received during the summer). Necessary documentation shall include: 1) the completed application form, 2) official graduate transcript(s) and/or 3) staff development transcripts from Lincoln Public Schools.
 - (1). Doctoral Lane Certificated employees will be placed on the doctoral lane of the certificated employee's salary schedule when a doctorate degree is granted from a college of education or is in the employee's instructional field or a related field.
 - (2). Horizontal Advancement Credit An hour of credit shall be defined as one hour of earned graduate study, or, if approved by the administration in advance, as one hour of upper-division undergraduate study in the certificated employee's major area or field. Applicants may use upper division courses for horizontal movement if approved by the principal, curriculum specialist and Human Resources in advance of the applicant enrolling in the coursework. When a degree is conferred, the hours earned in excess of degree requirements shall be applied to the next salary lane. Effective October 15, 1984, however, only graduate hours conferred after the master degree will apply to the MA+18, MA+36 and Ph.D.

Generally, college credit hours to be used for horizontal advancement must be earned through an institution which is approved by a state educational certification agency or accredited through a regional accrediting agency. Applicants may use college credits from

institutions not approved by a state educational certification agency or accredited through a regional accrediting agency for horizontal movement only if approved by Human Resources in advance of the applicant enrolling in the coursework.

- (3). The MA+18 lane shall be effective for 1982-83. Employees who obtain the BA+72 status prior to January 15, 1983, shall be permitted to remain on said lane. Employees who obtain a BA+72 after January 15, 1984, shall not be placed on said lane of the salary schedule.
- (4). Any person employed as a certificated staff member with a first contract day on or after September 1, 2010, will not be able to advance past Step 17 on the BA+36 column for the 2016-2017 school year and Step 18 for the 2017-2018 school year. Any person employed as a certificated staff member prior to September 1, 2010, will be able to advance past Step 17 on the BA+36 column for the 2016-2017 school year and Step 18 for the 2017-2018 school year.

b. Step Adjustments

- (1). Vertical Advancement on Schedule All certificated employees who were employed and worked under the 2015-2016 contract will move one vertical step, where steps exist, for the 2016-2017 school year. All certificated employees who were employed and worked under the 2016-2017 contract will move one vertical step, where steps exist, for the 2017-2018 school year.
- (2). When a certificated employee who was on Step 16 during the 2015-2016 school year and had been on Step 11 of the BA+18 column for multiple years moves to the BA+36/MA column, the employee will be placed on the step that would have been attained if the employee had not been on Step 11 for multiple years, but the placement will not be beyond Step 17. Effective 2017-2018, this provision will not be in effect.

9-3 Staff Development Hours

Staff development courses will be acceptable for advancement on the salary schedule in the same manner as item Section 9-2 a. above, up to a maximum of 30 hours of credit, except that no credit shall be given for courses taken more than ten (10) years prior to the year they are proposed for salary advancement. In order for the course to count toward salary schedule advancement, the applicant must have been a contracted certificated employee of Lincoln Public Schools during the time the course was taken. However, courses taken during the summer immediately preceding the first year of employment as a certificated employee of Lincoln Public Schools may be used for horizontal advancement. Staff development credit will support horizontal movement only if the applicant paid the appropriate tuition to Lincoln Public Schools at the time the applicant enrolled in the course. Once a certificated employee has qualified for horizontal advancement using staff development hours, that placement shall be considered permanent as if the hours were college hours. Once hours have been used they cannot be reassigned if and when a degree is conferred. Hours earned within the ten (10) years which have never been used for horizontal advancement may be used for horizontal advancement once the MA degree has been granted.

9-4 Prior Acceptable Experience

- a. Salary Lane Placement Newly hired certificated employees with no prior teaching experience will be placed on the first level of the appropriate salary lane.
- b. New hires for the 2016-2017 school year, with previous teaching experience, shall be placed on the same level on the salary schedule as current employees with the same amount of continuous Lincoln Public Schools experience up to Level 16 on the BA Lane; Level 17 on the BA+18 Lane; Level 17 on the BA+36 Lane; and up to Level 31 on the MA, MA+18, MA+36 and Ph.D.

New hires for the 2017-2018 school year, with previous teaching experience, shall be placed on the same level on the salary schedule as current employees with the same amount of continuous Lincoln Public Schools experience up to Level 17 on the BA Lane; Level 18 on the BA+18 Lane; Level 18 on the BA+36 Lane; and up to Level 32 on the MA, MA+18, MA+36 and Ph.D.

See charts in Appendix A.

These charts shall be effective only as to certificated employees first hired by Lincoln Public Schools, or reemployed after a break in employment, for the *2016-2017 and 2017-2018* school years, and for succeeding years.

c. Vocational certification experience will be permanently allowed on the certificated employee salary schedule for employees who teach one or more classes which are eligible for state vocational reimbursement. This experience will be allowed as follows: 1 year experience - business and office education distributive education; home economics related occupations (HERO), trades and industrial education; 2 years experience - agricultural education, and health-related occupation. Effective 1989-90, new hires will not be eligible.

9-5 Summer School

Pay for summer school services shall be on the basis of the certificated employee's extended contract with each period (hour) equal to 1/6 of their daily rate of pay. The pay rate at 1/6 rather than 1/7 daily rate of pay is to acknowledge and compensate summer school teachers for the fact that they will be planning for classes outside the student day.

9-6 Part-time Certificated Employees

Part-time certificated employees shall be paid their daily rate of pay based upon the number of teaching periods/time assigned. The employee's F.T.E. shall establish the appropriate minutes of prorated planning time. If employees are scheduled with a gap of time in their schedule of more than 50 minutes at the elementary level or more than one period plus passing time at the secondary level a maximum of one hour of pay will be allowed at their hourly rate. Payment of this sum will not increase the employee's full-time equivalency as determined by the number of assigned class periods per day.

A part-time employee who was a part-time employee under continuing contract during the 2005-2006 school year will receive a part-time employee supplement. The annual supplement will be equal to the difference between the employee's 2005-2006 fringe allocation and the product of the employee's 2006-2007 FTE and the employee's 2005-2006 fringe allocation. For example, a 0.4 FTE employee who received \$3,072 in fringe during the 2005-2006 school year will receive an annual supplement of \$3,072 - (.4 * \$3,072) = \$1,843.

After the first contract day of the 2006-2007 school year, the part-time employee supplement will be discontinued immediately if the employee has a change in FTE or if the employee advances horizontally on the salary schedule.

9-7 Teacher Relocation

Teachers move from one classroom to another for a variety of reasons. Under some circumstances, teachers have been paid for the non-contract time they have spent packing, moving, and unpacking. Teachers will continue to be paid for non-contract time for the following:

- a. Moving because of construction, renovation, or asbestos removal
- b. Moving into a new facility

The following options are available and should be selected by teachers and/or teams/departments based on the specific needs of the building:

a. They can pack, move and unpack their classroom teaching supplies and materials for which they will be reimbursed up to 14 hours at workshop participant rate.

- b. They can pack their classroom supplies and materials from the present classroom setting and unpack their classroom supplies and materials at their new classroom setting. Certificated staff will be paid at the workshop participant rate for a number of hours not to exceed 12. In this option, custodial and maintenance employees will move the packed materials.
- c. Employees from the custodial and maintenance department of LPS can pack and move all classroom teaching supplies and materials from one location to another. This will occur without the aid of the certificated staff member. The certificated staff member will then be reimbursed at workshop participant rate for classroom rearranging and relocation of supplies and materials in the new setting up to eight hours.

In all of the above options:

- a. Individuals from the custodial and maintenance department will move desks, chairs, filing cabinets and other large and small items as designated by the certificated staff member.
- Custodial and maintenance employees will procure boxes for the certificated staff member and will disassemble and store boxes after the move has been completed.
- c. Certificated staff members will not be requested nor required to clean rooms prior to moving materials into the new classroom setting nor to clean rooms after vacating a classroom setting.

Reasonable notice, usually at least two weeks, of the pending move will be given to teachers. The building principal will provide a plan for moving including the reason for the move, the names of teachers involved, and anticipated hours for each to the Associate Superintendent for Instruction. This plan must be submitted prior to the anticipated moving dates.

The number of hours to be reimbursed may be extended under extenuating circumstances. Such circumstances need to be described by the teacher and principal and a request for additional hours submitted to the Associate Superintendent for Instruction.

There may be other circumstances (e.g. building reorganization) for which compensation for moving is merited. Principals and teachers should submit a request for payment for such situations to the Associate Superintendent for Instruction.

9-8 National Board of Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS) Certification

The Lincoln Public Schools and the Lincoln Education Association believe in the importance of NBPTS Certification. In order to encourage staff to pursue Board Certification, the Lincoln Public Schools will provide a scholarship to pay \$500 of the initial fee for staff who apply for the program and are selected by the LPS Selection Committee.

The provisions below apply to all staff who go through the NBPTS Certification Process regardless of how their certification process was funded.

In order to support staff who are going through the NBPTS Certification process, LPS will:

- a. Provide up to two days of professional leave per semester to pursue the certification process.
- b. Provide support from videotape production staff and equipment.
- c. Provide support from professional staff and access to professional publications.

The Lincoln Education Association may provide additional Association Leave to LEA members involved in the NBPTS Certification process with the approval of the LEA President.

Staff who complete the NBPTS Certification Process shall immediately receive a Completion Stipend of \$600 from LPS.

Staff who are notified that they are NBPTS Certified shall immediately receive a Certification Bonus

of \$1000. A subsequent \$600 per semester NBPTS Certification Stipend will be paid at the conclusion of each semester from Lincoln Public Schools starting the contract year after certification is received. This stipend will continue for the life of their NBPTS Certification while they remain employees of the Lincoln Public Schools.

A joint LEA/LPS Professional Committee's Ad Hoc Committee on NBPTS Certification shall be responsible for the implementation of the procedures above. This Committee shall coordinate efforts in LPS to support the National Board Certification process. The Professional Committee shall be responsible for determining the composition of the Ad Hoc Committee and the LPS Selection Committee.

9-9 Defraying the Costs of Continuing Education

The Lincoln Education Association agrees that Lincoln Public Schools may create a program to defray up to actual cost for continuing education to a maximum of thirty-six (36) graduate hours. Such a program shall in no case require anything more from the employee than proof of graduate credit earned at a Nebraska institution of public education. The level of reimbursement and other information regarding the program shall be published annually prior to first quarter at University of Nebraska - Lincoln, and shall remain constant through that year's summer session.

During the life of this Agreement, the Board of Education may at its discretion, institute a program designed to provide tuition assistance to certificated employees who hold less than a Master's Degree.

9-10 Funds to Purchase Equipment/Supplies

In 2016-2017 and 2017-2018, the Board of Education agrees that each certificated employee will be allotted a sum of money (\$225) to which the certificated employee may voucher purchases of equipment and/or supplies to be used in the classroom or for other work-related projects for non-classroom educators at the employee's discretion. There will be no further restrictions other than the development of business procedures to be used for reimbursement.

In addition, the employee may use the \$225 allotment for professional leave expenses.

Part-time certificated employees will receive a prorated amount.

Guidelines and Procedures for \$225 Teacher Allotment

- a. Professional leave expenses for workshops, conference, etc. including cost for substitute, transportation and registration will qualify.
- b. Professional leave expenses also include dues for professional organizations except LEA, NSEA, and NEA.
- c. Professional leave expenses will not include tuition.
- d. This allotment cannot be used for any class or activity that could result in horizontal salary advancement.
- e. The money may not be accumulated over a several-year period. The allotment is good only during the contract period. Teachers, departments, teams or buildings may not combine their allotments to purchase equipment and/or supplies.
- f. Voucher forms will be available in the school office. Dated original invoices, receipts or register tapes need to be attached to the voucher to document all requests. The invoice must show the store name. Titles of books need to be cited. Include a brief written explanation for any unusual items or charges.
- g. Limit requests to a minimum of \$50. Final claims will be processed for lesser amounts.

- h. Receipts and voucher forms may be turned in through June 15 for items purchased by the last teacher work day. Purchases may be made during the summer months and vouchers and receipts may be turned in on the first duty day of that next contract.
- Part-time staff will receive a prorated amount. This refers not only to FTE, but also the number of days contracted.
- j. Purchases will be made at the employee's discretion. Approval of claims is based on meeting the above criteria and guidelines. There will be no other restrictions.

9-11 Junior Reserve Officer Training Corps Teachers

There are many instances in which the qualifications, terms, procedures, requirements, conditions, pay and benefits of faculty in the Junior Reserve Officer Training Corps (JROTC) program as outlined in the federal law do not coincide with requirements contained within the Professional Agreement. Examples of such differences in terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to, the length of the employment contract; the evaluation system; the salaries; the hiring process; and the requirement that instructors are to wear uniforms.

LPS and LEA agree that the qualifications, terms, procedures, requirements, conditions, pay and benefits of faculty in the JROTC program are governed by federal law and to the extent of any inconsistency between the Professional Agreement and federal law that federal law shall control over any of the terms of the Professional Agreement.

ARTICLE X INCENTIVE PAY

The Lincoln Public Schools provides for and encourages programs and activities that promote student learning, achievement, and experiences beyond the regular school day and curriculum. Certificated employees who voluntarily assume additional responsibilities to meet such goals beyond the scope of their regularly assigned duties and contract day warrant compensation for those duties as outlined below in addition to the compensation provided for them on the regular salary schedule.

10-1 Conversion Factor

The conversion factor to translate the point schedule for extra standard assignments shall be \$4.54 per point for 2016-2017 and 2017-2018. Extra standard salary schedule may be obtained from each building principal or supervisor. Should the Board and Association agree to changes recommended by the joint Extra Standard Committee, alterations to the schedule may be made by joint agreement.

Increase in the extra standard point value is determined by dividing the total base amount of the current year (base salary and fringe benefits total) into the proposed total salary increase unless changes are negotiated by the District and the Association. The current extra standard point value is multiplied by the percent of increase giving the new point value figure. New activities, when approved by the Board of Education, will be in addition to this limitation. The same percentage increase shall be used to calculate the increase in pay for the following positions: (See Appendix A for amounts).

Team Leader
Coordinator
Workshop Participant
Workshop Leader
Intramural Supervision (rate increase is 1/3 the rate of the percentage in 10-1).

During the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, the extra standard point value was computed through an alternative method, with the value not increasing in 2016-2017 and 2017-2018.

10-2 Notification

Certificated employees shall be notified in writing or electronically of extra standard and optional period assignments by the twentieth (20th) student day of the school year.

10-3 High School Department Chairs

- a. High school department chairpersons shall be compensated according to the following formula:
 - (1). The base stipend of \$3,441 for 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 which includes pay for supply and equipment management as well as unit leadership, plus \$100 for each staff member in excess of five up to a maximum of fifteen.
 - (2). A stipend based on the number of different courses available in the department as identified in the published course offerings of the school.

2016-2	017	and	2017	-2018

1 course \$538 11 courses \$806 16+ courses \$1,076

- (3). In order to complete their duties, department chairpersons are to work an additional five days.
- b. All high school department chairs shall have their teaching assignment reduced the equivalent of one period.
- c. When two or more employees share the duties of department chair, the stipends and additional days listed above will be shared by those employees.

10-4 Middle School Department Liaisons

Middle School Department Liaisons shall be compensated according to the following formula. The conversion factor to translate these points into extra standard pay shall be as outlined in Article 10-1.

Level "A" Departments which consist of two (2) to four (4) staff members will be assigned 144 points.

Level "B" Departments which consist of five (5) or more staff members will be assigned 336 points.

Single staff member departments will be assigned 72 points.

The Special Education Department will be assigned 336 points, regardless of the number of staff members in their department. However, if a building has a special education coordinator, the liaison stipend shall not be paid in addition to the compensation provided to the coordinator.

The availability of this leadership position shall be communicated to all certificated employees in each building.

The following departments/areas shall receive the stipend: Art, Business Education, English, Foreign Language, Home Economics, Industrial Technology, Mathematics, Music, Physical Education/Health, Reading Liaison, Science, Social Studies, and Special Education.

10-5 Team Leaders, Coordinators and Department Chairs Contract Notification

Team leaders, coordinators and department chairs serving with an extended contract shall continue to serve from year-to-year unless notified by the Human Resources Department by May 1.

10-6 Optional Period

Certificated employees assuming a sixth period of duty shall be paid \$5,408 during the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years. Acceptance of a sixth period assignment by a certificated employee shall be strictly voluntary. If the sixth period of duty is not 50 minutes in length, the payment will be prorated accordingly.

10-7 Rewards Based Upon Performance

The Board and the Association agree that rewards based upon the performance of the teacher or the educational gains of students should continue to be studied and expanded when such rewards are tied to enhanced student learning. Individual school sites may initiate such rewards-for-performance plans if such plans include the following components:

- a. The plan has measurable goals.
- b. The goals of the plan will enhance student learning and coincide with District goals.
- c. All participants are fully informed about the reward for meeting the goal and the criteria to be used in the objective evaluation of whether the goals were met.
- d. All certificated staff members at the site have the opportunity to participate in the plan. Participation in the plan is voluntary.

If funds become available through Nebraska Statute 79-309.01, those funds would be expended through a process with the components outlined above.

ARTICLE XI MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT

- **11-1** The following criteria shall be used to reimburse staff members within the District who use personal automobiles to travel between job sites:
 - a. Travel reimbursement will be granted when a staff member teaches in more than one school in a single day.
 - b. Travel reimbursement will be determined for itinerant certificated employees and classroom certificated employees who have been recommended to use their personal automobiles. Recommendation for authorization will be forwarded to the Human Resources Office by the curriculum specialist or Principal at the beginning of the school year or whenever needed.
- **11-2** All employees who are required to travel on behalf of the District shall be reimbursed for expenses at the allowable rate determined by the State of Nebraska, unless otherwise required by law.
- **11-3** Staff members will be reimbursed four (4) times during the school year at the end of each quarter upon presentation of forms prescribed by the Human Resources Office.

ARTICLE XII FRINGE BENEFITS

12-1 Fringe Benefits

- a. During the month of August, each employee will have the opportunity to enroll in the following insurance plans.
 - (1). Educators Health Alliance plan
 - (2). Group Dental Insurance
 - (3). Group Disability Insurance
 - (4). Group Term Life Insurance
 - (5). Vision Insurance

Enrollment in each plan is dependent upon the underwriting guidelines of that plan. Except for

the district contributions to health insurance described below, the employee will pay the premiums for the chosen insurance.

b. Employees may purchase the \$900 deductible district health insurance through the Educators Health Alliance. Each employee who purchases a district health insurance policy through the Educators Health Alliance will receive the following monthly contribution from the district toward the premium:

Coverage 2016-2017 District Contribution

Employee\$534.66Employee+Child(ren)\$756.33Employee+Spouse\$855.82Employee+Spouse+Child(ren)\$1,132.19

Coverage 2017-2018 District Contribution

Employee\$563.55Employee+Child(ren)\$808.66Employee+Spouse\$915.05Employee+Spouse+Child(ren)\$1,211.27

If a certificated employee takes Employee+Spouse+Child(ren) PPO coverage and his/her spouse is an LPS employee who is eligible for district EHA health insurance but who is not taking EHA health insurance, there is an additional district contribution of \$302.25 per month in 2016-2017 and 2017-2018.

The District and the Association will continue to monitor the progress the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) to determine if alterations to the health insurance program are appropriate.

- c. Eligible employees are able to participate, on a voluntary basis, in the Section 125 Plan offered by the district. Employees may not utilize the Section 125 Plan to pay long term disability insurance premiums.
- d. All certificated employees eligible for long term disability insurance who were not under an LPS continuing contract during the 2005-2006 school year are required to take long term disability insurance.

Employees who can prove that they are receiving disability or retirement benefits under Social Security or receiving benefits through the Nebraska Public Employees Retirement System or other retirement system for school employees may opt out of the long term disability insurance regardless of their contractual relationship with the District during the 2005-06 school year.

e. All certificated employees will be provided a death benefit of \$10,000.

12-2 Amendment to Fringe Benefits

The parties' non-cash fringe benefits are not considered subject to federal or state income tax or FICA taxes or to withholding for either state or federal income taxes or FICA taxes. Accordingly, the method, time and effect of selection of benefits shall be in accordance with federal rules and regulations adopted for cafeteria plans which are exempt from state and federal income tax and FICA taxes as the same may exist at the time of this agreement or as the same may be amended during the term of this agreement.

ARTICLE XIII PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

Certificated employees who are employed on a part-time basis have many of the employment rights and responsibilities of full-time employees under this Agreement. Those rights and responsibilities are contained within the various sections throughout this Agreement and the part-time certificated employee

should be familiar with the entire Agreement.

Some of the specific rights and responsibilities of part-time employees are addressed in the following sections:

<u>Topic</u>	<u>Section</u>
Attendance at staff development	5 - 4
Use of staff development hours for horizontal advancement	5-7
Professional growth points for part-time certificated employees	5-7
Certificated employee visitation	
Placement of staff	
Surplus procedure	6-3
Annual leave options	8-1
Part-time leave	8-12
Pay for part-time certificated employees	9-6
Planning time for part-time certificated employees	
Funds to purchase equipment/supplies	9-10
District contribution for fringe benefits	

ARTICLE XIV PROFESSIONAL COMMITTEE

14-1 Professional Committee

Section 1

The Board and the Association continue their commitment to the concept of the Professional Committee (ProCom) composed of five to eight persons appointed by the Superintendent, one of which shall be the Superintendent and including one principal from each educational level, and five to eight persons appointed by the Association, one of which shall be the President of the LEA which shall meet regularly to discuss overall relations between the parties, exchange information, receive suggestions, consider problems and discuss improvements. Over the course of the 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 school years, the Professional Committee shall establish the annual agenda for its work.

Section 2

Additional joint ad hoc committees may be determined by the Board of Education and the Lincoln Education Association on an annual basis to serve from June to June of the year for which are approved.

Section 3

Standing committees shall be:

- A. The Extra-Standard Pay Committee
- B. The Appraisal Joint Committee
- C. The Calendar Committee
- D. The Insurance Advisory Committee
- E. The Professional Learning Committee (PLC)

Minutes of meetings involving these committees shall be published and presented to the Professional Committee (ProCom), the Board of Education and the Board of Directors of the Association. Other committee details will be jointly determined.

LINCOLN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
By President
By Culie & Colle
Vice-President
By Dh Kasmussen
By Db Kamusen Committee Member
By Jacob Boolen Committee Member
~ ~ ·
By Wareen Chenslie
Committee Member
By Linda Freye Committee Member
By Martin El
LEA/NSEA UniServ Director
Day St. L.
By Swecutive Director
ENDOBBTO DIVOIDI
BOARD OF EDUCATION
1/ 1. 0
By Kathy Daruh
President
The state of
Superintendent
Mik. Musk.
By TAND WITH
Negotiation Chairperson
By hi Wille
Committee Member
Jan De
By Committee Member
By The Slaw
Committee Member

APPENDIX A: 2016-2017 SALARY SCHEDULE

Step	BA	BA+18	BA+36	MA	MA+18	MA+36	Ph.D
1	42,831	44,136	44,919	44,919	45,963	47,268	49,356
2	43,331	44,636	45,419	45,419	46,463	47,768	49,856
3	43,831	45,136	45,919	45,919	46,963	48,268	50,356
4	44,331	45,636	46,419	46,419	47,463	48,768	50,856
5	44,831	46,136	46,919	46,919	47,963	49,268	51,356
6	45,331	46,636	47,419	47,419	48,463	49,768	51,856
7	45,831	47,136	47,919	47,919	48,963	50,268	52,356
8	46,331	47,636	48,419	48,419	49,463	50,768	52,856
9	46,821	48,126	48,909	48,909	49,953	51,258	53,346
10	47,346	48,651	49,434	49,434	50,478	51,783	53,871
11	47,896	49,201	49,984	49,984	51,028	52,333	54,421
12	48,446	49,751	50,534	50,534	51,578	52,883	54,971
13	49,540	51,106	52,151	52,151	53,194	54,500	56,587
14	50,634	52,461	53,766	53,766	54,811	56,115	58,203
15	51,728	53,816	55,382	55,382	56,426	57,731	59,820
16	52,295	54,911	56,999	56,999	58,042	59,086	61,435
17		55,477	58,614	58,614	59,659	60,702	63,051
18			60,491	60,491	61,274	62,319	64,668
19			61,585	61,585	62,890	63,934	66,283
20			63,201	63,201	64,768	65,550	67,899
21			64,818	64,818	66,122	67,428	69,516
22			66,433	66,433	67,739	68,782	71,131
23			68,049	68,049	69,355	70,399	72,748
24			69,405	69,405	70,709	71,754	74,103
25			70,759	70,759	72,065	73,109	75,197
26			71,821	71,821	73,126	74,170	76,258
27			72,634	72,634	73,940	74,983	77,071
28			73,448	73,448	74,753	75,797	77,885
29			74,509	74,509	75,814	76,858	78,946
30			75,267	75,267	76,572	77,616	79,704
31			75,974	75,974	77,279	78,323	80,411
32			76,732	76,732	78,037	79,081	81,169
33			77,491	77,491	78,797	79,840	81,928
34			78,239	78,239	79,544	80,588	82,676

Notes: 1. Continuing employees will move one vertical step where possible for 2016-2017.

2. New hires will be placed according to the chart below.

Placement of 2016-2017 New Hires

Previous Experience	Schedule Placement	Previous Experience	Schedule Placement	Previous Experience	Schedule Placement
0	1	11	12	26 – 27	22
1	2	12	13	28	23
2	3	13	14	29	24
3	4	14	15	30 – 32	25
4	5	15	16	33	26
5	6	16 – 20	17	34	27
6	7	21 – 22	18	35 – 36	28
7	8	23	19	37	29
8	9	24	20	38 – 39	30
9	10	25	21	40	31
10	11	·			_

Notes on Chart Above:

*New hires with a BA lane placement cannot be placed higher than Level 16. New hires with a BA+18 lane placement cannot be placed higher than Level 17 on the salary schedule. New hires with a BA+36 lane placement cannot be placed higher than Level 17 on the salary schedule. New hires with lane placements of MA, MA+18, MA+36 and Ph.D. cannot be placed higher than Level 31 on the salary schedule.

This chart shall be effective only as to certificated teachers first hired by Lincoln Public Schools or re-employed after a break in employment, for the 2016-2017 school year.

2017-2018 SALARY SCHEDULE

Step	BA	BA+18	BA+36	MA	MA+18	MA+36	Ph.D
1	43,981	45,286	46,069	46,069	47,113	48,418	50,506
2	44,481	45,786	46,569	46,569	47,613	48,918	51,006
3	44,981	46,286	47,069	47,069	48,113	49,418	51,506
4	45,481	46,786	47,569	47,569	48,613	49,918	52,006
5	45,981	47,286	48,069	48,069	49,113	50,418	52,506
6	46,481	47,786	48,569	48,569	49,613	50,918	53,006
7	46,981	48,286	49,069	49,069	50,113	51,418	53,506
8	47,481	48,786	49,569	49,569	50,613	51,918	54,006
9	47,981	49,286	50,069	50,069	51,113	52,418	54,506
10	48,471	49,776	50,559	50,559	51,603	52,908	54,996
11	48,996	50,301	51,084	51,084	52,128	53,433	55,521
12	49,546	50,851	51,634	51,634	52,678	53,983	56,071
13	50,096	51,401	52,184	52,184	53,228	54,533	56,621
14	51,190	52,756	53,801	53,801	54,844	56,150	58,237
15	52,284	54,111	55,416	55,416	56,461	57,765	59,853
16	53,378	55,466	57,032	57,032	58,076	59,381	61,470
17	53,945	56,561	58,649	58,649	59,692	60,736	63,085
18		57,127	60,264	60,264	61,309	62,352	64,701
19			62,141	62,141	62,924	63,969	66,318
20			63,235	63,235	64,540	65,584	67,933
21			64,851	64,851	66,418	67,200	69,549
22			66,468	66,468	67,772	69,078	71,166
23			68,083	68,083	69,389	70,432	72,781
24			69,699	69,699	71,005	72,049	74,398
25			71,055	71,055	72,359	73,404	75,753
26			72,409	72,409	73,715	74,759	76,847
27			73,471	73,471	74,776	75,820	77,908
28			74,284	74,284	75,590	76,633	78,721
29			75,098	75,098	76,403	77,447	79,535
30			76,159	76,159	77,464	78,508	80,596
31			76,917	76,917	78,222	79,266	81,354
32			77,624	77,624	78,929	79,973	82,061
33			78,382	78,382	79,687	80,731	82,819
34			79,141	79,141	80,447	81,490	83,578
35			79,889	79,889	81,194	82,238	84,326

Notes: 1. Continuing employees will move one vertical step where possible for 2017-2018.

2. New hires will be placed according to the chart below.

Placement of 2017-2018 New Hires

Previous Experience	Schedule Placement	Previous Experience	Schedule Placement	Previous Experience	Schedule Placement
0	1	11	12	27 – 28	23
1	2	12	13	29	24
2	3	13	14	30	25
3	4	14	15	31 – 33	26
4	5	15	16	34	27
5	6	16	17	35	28
6	7	17 – 21	18	36 – 37	29
7	8	22 – 23	19	38	30
8	9	24	20	39 – 40	31
9	10	25	21	41	32
10	11	26	22	·	

Notes on Chart Above:

*New hires with a BA lane placement cannot be placed higher than Level 17. New hires with a BA+18 lane placement cannot be placed higher than Level 18 on the salary schedule. New hires with a BA+36 lane placement cannot be placed higher than Level 18 on the salary schedule. New hires with lane placements of MA, MA+18, MA+36 and Ph.D. cannot be placed higher than Level 32 on the salary schedule.

This chart shall be effective only as to certificated teachers first hired by Lincoln Public Schools or re-employed after a break in employment, for the 2017-2018 school year.

2016-2017 and 2017-2018 Extra Standard/Other Assigned Duties

Extra Standard Point Value	
Intramurals (Hourly)	\$9.31
Workshop Participant (Hourly)	\$24.17
Workshop Leader (Hourly)	\$36.27
Team Leader	
Coordinator	
Optional Period	

APPENDIX B

LINCOLN PUBLIC SCHOOLS LINCOLN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION GRIEVANCE FORM

Certificated Employee's Name	School or Unit			
Assignment				
Grad	de(s) and Subject(s)			
	NFORMAL STEP Vorking days of occurrence)			
Discussed orally with supervisor Yes □ No □ Grievance Resolved Yes □ No □	Supervisor response within 5 days Yes □ No □ Request for Step 1 Yes □ No □			
	STEP 1			
(Within 20 wor	rking days of the occurrence)			
Date of Violation	Date Grievance Filed			
grievable through Step 3 ☐ Other alleged violation or misapplication of any spec Nature of Grievance (Include Who, What, Where)	administrative directives or regulations which affect employees' work- cific provision of the Professional Agreement.			
Specific Relief Sought				
Signature of Certificated Employee and/or LEA Repres	entative Date			

See Page 2 for Disposition

DISPOSITION BY PRINCIPAL OR DEPARTMENT SUPERVISOR

Date Received		Date Meet	Date Meeting Held (within 5 working days of receipt)			
Response (within 5 work	king days of n	neeting)				
Copy to: ☐ Superintendent ☐ Associate Superintel ☐ LEA ☐ Director, Employee I						
Signature of	Principal or D	epartment Superv	visor		Date	
Grievance Resolved:	Yes □	No □	Appealed to Step 2:	Yes □	No □	
Signature of Certification	ated Employe	e and/or LEA Rep	resentative		Date	
Date Received		File with A Date Meet FION BY ASSOCI	STEP 2 days from receipt of response to assoc. Supt. Human Resources ing Held (within 5 working days ATE SUPERINTENDENT HUM	of receipt)		
Response			5 working days after meeting)			
Copy to: Superintendent Associate Superinten LEA Director, Employee I						
Signature of Associ	iate Superinte	endent of Human F	Resources		Date	
Grievance Resolved:	Yes □	No □	Appealed to Step 3:	Yes □	No □	
Signature of Certific	ated Employe	ee and/or LEA Rep	presentative		Date	

STEP 3
(Within 5 working days from receipt of response to Step 2)
File with Supt. of Schools

Date Received	Date Meeting	Held (within 5 working	ng days of receipt)	
		N BY SUPERINTEN orking days after mee		
_	(**************************************	orking days after mee	surig)	
Response				
Copy to: ☐ Superintendent ☐ Associate Superintendent, ☐ LEA	Human Resources			
☐ Director, Employee Relation	ns and Personnel			
Superinte	endent's Signature		Date	
Grievance Resolved: Yes	s 🗆 No 🗆	Appealed to Step 4	l (see note below): Yes □ No □	
Signature of Certificated E	mployee and/or LEA Repres	sentative	Date	
shall be grievable through Step	3. Any such grievances whitten timely fashion to arrange a h	ich remain unresolve	es or regulations which affect employees' w d after Step 3 may be appealed to the Boar ard. Such claims are not arbitrable.	
Date Appealed to the Board		Hearing Date		
		-		
Disposition by Board				

STEP 4 REQUEST FOR ARBITRATION

(Submit request to Supt. of Schools within 10 working days of Step 3 response)

Date of Request	Date Received
Superintendent's Signature	Date
Date of receipt of decision by Superintendent	
Superintendent's Signature	Date
Date of receipt of decision by the LEA Executive Director (if repre Executive Director's Signature (if represented by LEA)	•
Attach disposition by arbitrator.	

Thirty (30) calendar days after the receipt by the Superintendent and the Executive Director/Employee of the arbitrator's award, the decision of the arbitrator shall become final unless it has been specifically overturned by the Board of Education at an official meeting of the Board.

If Board action occurs, attach a copy of the Board minutes.

APPENDIX C

Pay Dates for 2016-2017

September 30, 2016 October 31, 2016	January 31, 2017 February 28, 2017	May 31, 2017 June 30, 2017
November 30, 2016	March 31, 2017	July 31, 2017
December 27, 2016	April 28, 2017	August 31, 2017

Pay Dates for 2017-2018

September 29, 2017	January 31, 2018	May 31, 2018
October 31, 2017	February 28, 2018	June 29, 2018
November 30, 2017	March 29, 2018	July 31, 2018
December 27, 2017	April 30, 2018	August 31, 2018

INDEX

Advancement of Pay (New Hires)	8	Option A Leave	18
Adoption Leave		Option B Leave	
Affirmative Action		Optional Period	
Alternative Employment		Optional Period Pay33	
Annual Leave		Outside Employment	
Appraisal		Part-time Certificated Employees	
Arbitration (as part of the Grievance Procedure)		Part-time Leave	
Association Leave		Pay Dates	
Association Rights and Privileges		Paychecks	
Assault and Battery Leave	22	Payment for Unused Sick Leave19, 20	
Bereavement Leave		Payroll Deduction - Association Dues	
Borrow Accumulated/Sick Leave		Personnel Handbook	
Building Flex Hours		Placement of New Hires27, 38	,
Bumping Procedures	17	Placement of Staff	
Catastrophic Illness Leave	25	Planning Time	12
Certificated Employee Exchange	17	Elementary Planning Time	12
Certificated Employee Visitation	11	Middle School Level Planning Time	
Certificated Staff Duty Days	8	Secondary Planning Time	13
Changes in Placement		Posting of Vacancies	
Civic Leave		Prior Acceptable Experience	
Class Size Appeal Process		Professional Appraisal	
Conditions of Employment		Professional Committee (PROCOM)	
Conferencing Days		Professional Leave	
Continuing Education Cost Defrayal		Recognition for Negotiations	
Contract Days and Hours		Reduction in Force	
Coordinator Pay		Relocation of Teachers' Classrooms	
Counselor Office Time	13	Reopener of the Negotiated Agreement	
Covering Class or Combining Classes in Absence	40	Report Cards	
of a Substitute		Rewards Based Upon Performance	
Death Benefit	-	Salary Information	
District Flex Hours		Salary Schedule37	
Eleven Day Annual Leave Plan (Option B)		School Meetings	
Emergency Leave (Option A)		Selection of Leave Options	
Equipment / Supplies Funds		Seniority	15
Exchange Teachers		Seniority List	15
Extra Standard Committee		Site Variance Process	14
Extra Standard Point Value	31, 40	Special Endorsements or Qualifications	15
Fringe Benefits	33	Special Leave Days (Option A)	19
Grievance Form	41	Staff Development	10
Grievance Procedure	5	Staff Development Hours for Horizontal Advancement	27
High School Department Chairs		Staff Meeting Guidelines	
Horizontal Advancement on Salary Schedule		Staffing Resources	
Inclement Weather Days		Standing Joint Committees	
Intramural Supervision Pay	31 40	Step Adjustments	
Involuntary Transfers		Student Discipline - "Best Practices" Handbook	
Italicized Type		Student Teacher University Relations	
Itinerant Assignment		Summer School	
Junior Reserve Officer Training Corps Teachers	31	Surplusing of Staff	
Jury Duty		Teacher Assignment	
Lane Adjustments		Teacher Discretionary Days (Option B)	19
Leave of Absence (Unpaid Leave)		Teacher Enhancement Fund	30
Leave-Option A		Team Leader, Coordinator and Department Chair	
Leave-Option B		Notification	
Leave Transfer for Catastrophic Illnesses		Team Leader Pay31	
Middle School Department Liaisons		Transfer Procedure	
Mileage Reimbursement		Unpaid Leave (Leave of Absence)	
NBPTS Certification		Vacancy Postings	
Negotiation Agreement		Variance	
Negotiations Procedures		Voluntary Transfer14	
Night School Assignment		Worker's Compensation	
Notification of Extended Contract		Workshop Leader Pay Rate31	
Notification of Extra Standard Assignment	32	Workshop Participant Pay Rate31	

